







Contents

Introduction to the standards	04
Streamlining evidence gathering and assessment	10
integrating the standards	11
• the workbook	12
a proportionate approach to assessment	13
ways of evidencing and assessing	14
Templates*	16
• witness statement	17
record of observation form	18
evidence and reflection form	19
Your notes	21
The standards (pull out)	23

^{*}Based on templates provided by Norfolk County Council – Children's Services Department

introduction

All people who work with children and young people are expected to provide high-quality and safe care for the children they look after, whatever their role.

The Training, Support and Development Standards for Short Break Carers have been developed by the Children's Workforce Development Council (CWDC) in partnership with the Shared Care Network to ensure that all carers receive relevant induction, training and support.



The standards

The Training, Support and Development Standards for Short Break Carers provide a structured approach to the assessment and training of short break carers, covering their preparation and assessment and the 12 months following their approval as carers or from taking up their role. They will help to ensure that carers are safe to take on the appropriate level of responsibility for the disabled children and young people in their care. They will assist supervisors and managers in assessing the skills, knowledge and experience of carers, and in identifying their training and development needs.

The standards are underpinned by the principles and values statement, which applies to anyone who works with children, and the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.

Please refer to the pull-out section at the back of this publication.

The standards build on the Training, Support and Development Standards for Foster Care (launched July 2007) and have been adapted to meet the needs of short break carers who offer placements to disabled children and young people and those with complex health needs.

These standards have a specific focus on disability and complex health needs and aim to be proportionate with the time commitment of the short break carer. The standards reflect the more limited caring role of a short break carer, where the parents or main carers retain primary responsibility for the child or young person's development, health, education and day-to-day decisions about their care.

The standards reflect the fact that short break carers:

- provide regular, but short periods of care on a part-time basis
- require specialist knowledge and skills for work with disabled children and young people
- work with children with complex health care, mobility and communication needs
- may be required to administer medication, follow clinical procedures or provide intimate care
- may be required to manage challenging behaviour
- are often in full-time employment outside the home
- often have relevant experience, qualifications and training
- look after children who live at home with their parents who have full-time involvement in their upbringing and education

The standards set out clearly what short break carers should know, understand and be able to do, and are 'proportionate' to the role and task of the short break carer.

The supplementary guidance should be used in conjunction with:

- the detailed guidance accompanying the standards for Foster Care – The CWDC Training, Support and Development Standards for Foster Care: A Guide for Managers, Supervising Social Workers and Trainers CWDC, May 2007 (available at www.cwdcouncil.org.uk/ foster-care/standards)
- the workbook especially adapted for short break carers – CWDC Standards and Workbook for Short Break Carers CWDC, June 2009

At the point of publication (June 2009), the standards are to be used by new and existing short break carers of disabled children and young people, including those with complex health needs, who provide day or overnight stays primarily in the carer's home and whose placements are regulated by the Fostering Services Regulations 2002.

Providers of services are also encouraged to consider using the standards to support the professional development and training of other groups of short break carers whose placements are not regulated by the Fostering Services Regulations 2002.

Short break carers approved under the Fostering Services Regulations 2002 will be expected to work towards the standards from June 2009. New carers will be expected to complete the standards within 12 months of approval, and existing short break carers by June 2011.

Definitions

The term 'disabled children and young people' is used throughout the standards to refer to children or young people who may have physical, sensory or cognitive impairments that affect the way in which they relate to the world around them. Society creates many barriers which disable this group of children and young people and prevent them from participating in a valued life. Many disabled children and young people will need varying amounts of support to ensure that they can interact with their environment and achieve the same five outcomes as all children.

An increasing number of disabled children also have complex health needs and require care which is invasive, or they will be dependent on 'technology' in order to maintain their optimum health (for example, children who are tubefed, use ventilators or require procedures such as intermittent catheterisation). Some children with complex health needs may not have an impairment but will require support in order to access activities and community facilities.

Definitions provided by Jeanne Carlin, Independent Disability Consultant

Aims of the standards

The standards are designed to:

- equip short break carers with the knowledge and skills needed to provide high-quality care for the children and young people they care for
- ensure that all short break carers are given the necessary help to develop knowledge and skills to carry out their role

Who do the standards apply to?

The standards apply to:

- short break carers of disabled children and young people and those with complex health needs who provide day or overnight stays primarily in the carer's home
- new and existing short break carers
- new and existing contract carers

The carers listed below are not required to complete the standards but are encouraged to use them to develop their knowledge and skills with the support of their agency:

- carers providing short breaks under direct payments
- befrienders
- sitters
- carers providing flexible breaks in the child or young person's own home or within a local community setting

Support carers should complete the Training, Support and Development Standards for Foster Care.



Timescale for implementation of the standards

- All short break carers will be expected to work towards the standards from June 2009.
- New short break carers will be expected to complete the standards within 12 months of approval.
- Existing short break carers (approved) as foster carers) are expected to complete the standards and gain the CWDC Certificate of Successful Completion by June 2011.
- Providers can exercise discretion as to whether they require carers who are within one year of retirement to complete the standards.
- All providers of short break services are expected to implement the standards and ensure that carers have access to training, induction and continuing development opportunities.
- It is anticipated that these standards will become a mandatory requirement for short break carers, who are approved as foster carers, when the new National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services are published.

Who in the household should complete the standards?

- Where the caring role is undertaken mainly by one person in the household, only the primary carer is required to complete the standards.
- Where the caring role is a shared responsibility (eg with the partner of the main carer or other family member), both should contribute to completing the workbook and participate in learning opportunities together.
- Only one workbook per household is required, but there may be circumstances where carers opt to each complete a separate workbook.

Time frame for successful completion of the standards

- The outcomes in the standards should be met through planned learning within 12 months of approval as a short break carer.
- If the carer has not completed the standards within this period, the provider should both ensure that a plan is in place setting out how the learning towards the standards can be achieved and agree a revised timescale for completion.
- Providers have discretion to take into account the circumstances of individual carers (eg where there have been delays in linking a carer to a child, taking account of a carer's disability or illness) and to agree an extension.
- Carers whose first language is not English, or who have difficulty with literacy, may also require longer to complete the standards. Providers should offer support and assist carers to access support with language skills and literacy.
- Experienced short break carers, who have had access to training and development, will be able to use their experience in the role as evidence to 'fast track' through the standards.

Carers with related qualifications and experience

• Short break carers who have qualifications and experience in related fields (eg care work, nursing, schools, relevant degree or diploma), or who have relevant NVQ units, still have to complete the standards as they are tailored to the short break role. They can use their qualifications and experience as evidence against specific outcomes in the standards.

- Supervisors should note that carers may need to update their training or experience. If the prior learning or experience is over five years old. the carer will need to demonstrate to the supervisor that they have kept up to date and are likely to need refresher training.
- It is also important that the learning or experience is relevant to the role of the short break carer. For example, someone who works as a learning support assistant in a school, who has undergone training there, may need to show their supervisor how this prior learning applies to their current role.
- It is recommended that supervisors and carers identify relevant prior learning and experience that can be used to evidence specific outcomes during the initial assessment or in the induction plan.

streamlining evidence gathering and assessment



Integrating the standards

- Implementation is likely to be most successful where short breaks services integrate the standards with existing processes for assessing, training, supervising and reviewing their carers. It is recommended that services make explicit the links between these standards and those processes (eg mapping preparation training, assessment and initial and annual reviews to the standards).
- As an example, the BAAF Form F 2008 version section F provides a template for mapping to the CWDC Standards for Foster Care linked to the Personal Professional Development Plan. This helps identify the degree of attainment of each standard and proposed action to fill the gaps in knowledge or skills.
- Short break carers (especially new carers) will need to use a variety of sources to assist their learning including through training and support provided by the short breaks service. However, most evidence will be based on work that they are already doing as an integral part of their role so, in that sense, it is not additional work. Supervisors and mentors will play a key role in helping them to reflect on learning opportunities provided by naturally occurring events.

The workbook

The workbook for short break carers has been adapted to offer carers a streamlined process for presenting evidence that they have met the standards. Carers should complete the six sections (approximately six pages for each standard) by listing their evidence.

Use the sample questions and activities to supplement the evidence provided to test the carer's knowledge and understanding, and to supplement your own observations of their practice. Carers do not have to provide answers to all of the questions. The questions can be adapted to reflect their role.

Where a carer has applied to be a short break carer for a specific child or young person, providers may tailor the induction to the priority needs of the child or young person.

The workbook is a flexible tool that allows carers to provide different volumes of evidence depending on their experience and confidence in presenting written material. Two exemplars of completed worksheets have been included in the back of the workbook to illustrate the breadth and depth of knowledge and skills expected, but these are not intended to be prescriptive of how carers should present evidence.

Carers should be encouraged to keep their evidence (certificates from training courses, descriptions of their work and how it meets the standards, witness statements or testimonials, observation records, reflective accounts, reports they have written, extracts from recording etc) in a ring binder portfolio.

The workbook can be filled in by:

- the carer on their own with the support of their supervisor, or
- jointly with the supervisor, or
- by the supervisor on behalf of the carer (where this happens it should be noted that this has occurred)

Using mentors (eg experienced short break carers) to guide carers in completing the standards has been found to be a helpful approach. However, mentors are not able to sign off each standard. This should be done by a supervisor, trainer or person within the service with supervisory or management responsibility.

A proportionate approach to assessment

- Detailed guidance on the 'Delivery of training and development' and 'Assessing learning' can be found in the Guide for Managers, Supervising Social Workers and Trainers accompanying the Training, Support and Development Standards for Foster Care (available at www.cwdcouncil.org. uk/foster-care/standards).
- The assessment process designed for staff who work in children's services and for full-time foster carers may not be appropriate for short break carers who offer a more limited (but no less valuable) service.
- Time constraints on short break carers, many of whom have other employment and commitments to the children they care for, make it difficult for them to attend training or support groups, and supervision occurs less regularly. In addition, providers have more limited resources proportionately to commit to the learning and assessment process.
- The standards that have been developed for short break carers are at an induction or foundation level (may require an awareness, or understanding, of rather than an in-depth knowledge). As such, they do not require the same amount of evidence as, for example, an NVQ. The manager of the service who signs off all the completed workbooks should ensure that there is sufficient evidence and, at the same time. highlight examples of over-assessment. CWDC will be producing some exemplars to illustrate both the level required and sufficiency of evidence.

Ways of evidencing and assessing

Experience from implementing the Training, Support and Development (TSD) Standards for Foster Care suggests that the following may help to simplify and streamline the process of gathering evidence and assessment:

Link assessment and training to outcomes

The assessment process should make it possible for the carer to identify both their pre-existing knowledge and skills and their learning through the assessment process. Both preparation training and core post-approval training should be linked to the standards.

Personal development or induction plan

A personal development or induction plan should be created post-approval, identifying gaps in knowledge and skills, and the learning and development that the carer will need to undertake to evidence the standards. This plan should include support that will be provided by the short breaks service.

The initial and annual review

The carer's first review and subsequent review should be structured to provide evidence for the carer to meet the standards and provides an opportunity to review their progress in meeting the standards.

One-to-one induction sessions

Arrange one-to-one induction sessions with new carers, and make sure you identify for the carer how they can use the areas covered in these sessions as evidence.

Support groups

Use existing support groups to introduce the standards, and structure each group to provide evidence to meet the requirements of each standard. Set up a time-limited group specifically to support carers working on the standards.

Mentoring or buddying

Pilot the standards with a small group of experienced carers who are enthusiastic and can then be recruited to assist other carers in a mentoring or buddying role.

Incentives

Offer a financial reward for completing each standard, or on successful completion.

Naturally occurring events

Wherever possible, use the day-today work of the carer with children and young people, their parents and carers and relevant organisations as evidence. Encourage carers to use their diary to reflect on what they have done, what worked and did not work and why, and what skills they have used. Planning meetings or children and young people's reviews can also be a rich source of evidence.

Carers' handbook or manual

Structure the carer's handbook in a way that reflects the standards so the carer can demonstrate their competence when they successfully implement guidance in line with the policies or procedures of the short breaks service.

Recording sheets

Mark on recording sheets or in the carer's diary anything you spot they can use as evidence.

Records of supervision

Supervision notes can be used as evidence.

Use a range of methods

Not all carers are comfortable with writing. Encourage them to present evidence by using other methods (eg verbal, photos, collages).

Online

Support carers in being able to access the workbook online. Not all carers will be comfortable with this approach or have access to a computer.

At the right level

Remember: the level required is induction or foundation level. Beware of assessing at too high a level.

Avoid over-assessment

Do not over-assess. The assessor needs to be confident that the carer has the knowledge or skill and will apply it in their work.

templates

Witness statement

for completion by any person

Name of	short brea	ık carer:			
Relevant sta	ndards (tick a	II that apply)			
1. Role as short break career	2. Safe environment, healthy care	3. Communicate effectively	4. Understand child development	5. Safeguarding	6. Develop yourself
Context and	d date (describe	e briefly)			
Carer's action	ons				
Comments					
Recommen	dations (if any)				
Statement w	ritten by:		Role):	
Signature:			Date	e :	
Carer's signa	ature		Date	e:	

Record of observation form

for completion by the **supervisor/mentor**

Carer's n	ame:					Date:	
Setting:							
Who was in	volved?						
Activity:							
Interaction	observe	ed:					
Relevant sta	ndards	(tick a	II that apply)				
1. Role as short break career	2. Safe environ healthy	-	3. Communicate effectively	4. Understand child development	d 5.	Safeguarding	6. Develop yourself
Comments	from ca	rer					
Action plan	(if requir	ed)					
Signature of	superv	isor/m	entor:	Re	ole:		
Carer's signa	ature:			Da	ate:		

Evidence and reflection form

for completion by carer

Provides evidence of learning through reflective practice

Carer's na	me:				Date:	
Relevant stand	dards (tick all t	hat apply)				
1. Role as short break career	2. Safe environment, healthy care	3. Communicate effectively	4. Understand child development		feguarding	6. Develop yourself
What was the	situation?					
What do I do?	•					
What was the	outcome (Wha	t happened in re	esponse to wha	at I di	d?)	
Would I do som		outcome happe next time? Wha r theory?)				-
				Con	tinue over pa	age if necessary
Carer's signatu	ure:		Da	ite:		

Evidence and reflection form

for completion by carer

deflection (continued)	

Your notes					

Your notes



Standard 1:

understand your role as a short break carer

- 1.1 Principles and values for working with children and young people
- **a** Understand the principles and values essential for caring for children and young people.
- **b** Demonstrate how your care relates to the five Every Child Matters outcomes.
- 1.2 Equality, inclusion and antidiscriminatory practice
- **a** Know about the different types of prejudice and discrimination which can affect children and young people.
- b Understand why it is important to provide care which respects and preserves each child or young person's ethnic, religious, cultural and linguistic background, and sexual orientation.
- c Understand the social model of disability and how society creates barriers to inclusion for disabled people. Demonstrate a positive attitude towards impairment and a willingness to challenge discrimination.
- d Show how you might respond to discrimination directed at a disabled child or young person.

- 1.3 The role of the short break carer
- a Understand your role as a short break carer and to whom you are responsible.
- b Understand your role as part of the short break service working with the child or young person, and how you contribute to their development.
- c Be able to work in partnership with families and understand the pressures of caring for a disabled child or young person.
- d Be able to work in partnership with staff from the other organisations that support the child or young person and their family.
- 1.4 Policies, procedures and good practice for the short break role
- **a** Understand how to apply your agency's policies, procedures and good practice relevant to short break carers.
- **b** Understand the importance of confidentiality and how it applies in your work.
- c Know how to make a complaint on your own behalf or on behalf of the children and young people you care for.

Standard 2:

provide a safe environment and healthy care

2.1 Health and safety

- **a** Know your responsibilities under your agency's procedures for the health and safety of children and young people in your care.
- **b** Demonstrate how you keep your home safe, secure and free of avoidable hazards, and that you maintain a good standard of hygiene and cleanliness.
- c Know what to do in case of a fire.

2.2 Healthy care, medication and clinical procedures

- a Understand what 'healthy care' means for the physical, mental, emotional and sexual health of children and young people.
- **b** Be aware of the child or young person's health-care needs and the implications for their care (including hygiene needs, allergies, and infection control procedures).
- c Be aware of the child or young person's moving and handling plan, and the implications for their care (if applicable).
- d Successfully undertake specific training in clinical procedures and carry them out in accordance with the training (if required).
- e Know how to administer medication safely, implement health-care plans, and understand the importance of obtaining consent; and know in what circumstances to contact those with parental responsibility.
- f Know how to use equipment and aids safely and be willing to undertake any relevant training.

- **g** Know how to carry out basic first aid, and when and how to access emergency medical treatment.
- h Know what records to keep of a child's health and administration of medication in line with agency procedures and medical advice.

2.3 Personal care

- a Be able to provide personal and intimate care, in line with agency guidelines, which respects the rights of children and young people to privacy, respect and dignity, and encourages their independence.
- **b** Be able to provide care which is responsive to the specific needs and impairments of the children and young people you look after and respects their right to make choices.

2.4 Personal safety and managing risk

- **a** Understand potential risks to the safety of yourself and your family and know what you can do to reduce and manage the risks.
- b Be aware of the range of challenging behaviours which may be presented by children and young people, and know how to manage challenging behaviour in a way that is both safe and respectful while in accordance with the child or young person's behaviour management plan, where one exists.
- c Identify examples of risks to the personal safety of children and young people, and know how to access information and training, and the appropriate action to be taken to reduce the risk.

Standard 3:

communicate effectively

3.1 Communicating with children and young people

- a Use and be willing to undergo training in the child or young person's preferred method of communication, and demonstrate that you respond appropriately.
- **b** Show how you enable disabled children to make their own decisions and exercise choice.
- **c** Demonstrate an ability to advocate on behalf of disabled children and young people.
- 3.2 Communicating with parents/carers and organisations
- **a** Be able to communicate effectively with parents and carers and raise any concerns in an appropriate way.

- **b** Be able to communicate effectively with other organisations which are involved with disabled children and young people.
- **c** Be able to communicate effectively with your supervisor.

3.3 Record keeping

- a Be able to keep accurate written records in line with your agency's requirements and to use a variety of materials to record progress and achievements in line with the Every Disabled Child Matters outcomes.
- **b** Be able to gather and record the child or young person's views and feelings about their short breaks placement in line with their chosen method of communication.

Standard 4:

understand the development of children and young people

4.1 Child and adolescent development

- a Demonstrate a basic understanding of child and adolescent development, and the developmental needs of children and young people.
- **b** Understand the difference between chronological age and stages of development, and how this may affect a disabled child or young person.
- c Be able to work with disabled children and young people in developing independence, self-confidence, resilience and self-esteem.
- d Understand the importance of transitions in the life of disabled children and young people, and your contribution to the transition process.

- 4.2 Needs of disabled children and young people, and those with complex health needs
- **a** Know how to promote the child or young person's independence (as far as is possible) in all aspects of their life.
- b Know how to encourage disabled children and young people's participation and inclusion in play, activities and learning.
- c Show that you provide age-appropriate activities and experiences both within and outside of the home to take account of the child or young person's disability.
- d Be aware of the importance of providing safe and predictable routines for disabled children and young people.
- e Understand how to enable disabled children and young people to develop a positive sexual identity regarding their own sexuality.

Standard 5:

keep children and young people safe from harm

5.1 Safeguarding policies and procedures

- **a** Be aware of your local multi-agency safeguarding policies and procedures on identifying and protecting children and young people who have been abused or are at risk of abuse.
- **b** Know your responsibilities as a short break carer for protecting and safeguarding children, and how to follow your agency's procedures on reporting concerns on child protection issues.

5.2 Keeping children safe

- **a** Be able to create a safe environment for children and young people.
- **b** Know how to help children and young people keep themselves safe from harm or abuse.
- c Develop, maintain and implement 'safer caring' guidelines for you and your household, and provide care that minimises the risk of allegations.

5.3 Recognising and responding to abuse

a Understand the different ways in which children and young people can be harmed, with particular regard to factors that make disabled children and young people more vulnerable to abuse. Different types of abuse are:

physical abuse

- emotional abuse
- neglect
- institutional abuse
- sexual abuse
- exposure to domestic violence
- faltering growth/failure to thrive
- self-harm
- the internet
- **b** Know about the signs and indicators of possible abuse and neglect and how these relate to disabled children and young people.
- c Understand how disabled children and young people might be bullied and know what action to take if you suspect a child is being bullied.
- d Know what action to take if you suspect a child or young person is being abused or neglected and when immediate action may be necessary to ensure their safety.

5.4 Whistle-blowing (reporting failures in duty)

a Know your agency's policies and procedures on reporting concerns on safeguarding issues, and unsafe practice of others, and what to do if you do not get a satisfactory response from your own or other organisations.

Standard 6: develop yourself

- 6.1 Using support and supervision to develop your role as a short break carer
- **a** Understand the purpose of your personal supervision and how to make the best use of it.
- **b** Know what support is available to you and the importance of asking for help and advice.

6.2 Personal development

a Be willing to take advantage of training and development opportunities to develop your knowledge and skills further.

The Children's Workforce Development Council's (CWDC's) vision is to build a world-class workforce for children, young people and families.

CWDC exists to improve the lives of children, young people, their families and carers by ensuring that all people working with them have the best possible training, qualifications, support and advice. It also helps children and young people's organisations and services to work together better so that the child is at the centre of all services.

Contact us to receive this information in a different language or format, such as large print or audio tape.

For more information please call

0113 244 6311

Visit www.cwdcouncil.org.uk

Write to CWDC, City Exchange, 11 Albion Street Leeds LS1 5ES Email info@cwdcouncil.org.uk